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~ MissinG Paces

AFTER TRECESS

ARTHUR A. JOHNSON, of 3529 Vabash Avenue,
m::otmu ‘Ohdo, a. witness culled on behalf of the Peorle,
jﬂb.ln. duly eworn, testified as follows:

' DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DONOHUE:

Q On October 135th,1921, were you in ihe City of New York?.
A Yes,sir.

Q And where were you? A At the Bristol Hotél. I had
_been &t the ball game, and had got back there between the
houre of 8 and 8:30. By

Q VWhere were you stopping tnonf. A At the Martinique Hotel,
- and my wife and I were vigiting Mr. and Mrs. Flmtg;h, at the
"Bristol Hotel. :

Q 'And where is that hotel? A 48th Street, just oﬂut of

' Broadway.

' @ And about what time did you arrive at the Bristol Hotel? '
],Q We arrived thou along about seven v'clock. ,
Q And you had dinner, you say? A Yes, with Mr. and nny
In and my wife. j
t ll.oor was that on, that 'you had dinner? A




e s

~ had tickets for the ladies to go to the theater, and Mr. =
.;liin;iqa and myself went out to the lobby, expeoting to
‘meet some friends. We went out together from the dining

A Mr. Flanigan went to the ‘phone, and ‘I went fo the

'fuolng & blank wall, and four toilets on the left side,

BY MF. DONOHUE:

| g
,-il!Oi you had dinner, -ﬁotq’dtc you go? A Ve

room, and left his and my wife there.
-Q And what 4did you do when you got out in the lobby?

toilet, and I entered the urinal. There are four nrtnﬁln ‘ | |

and I walked into the first urihtl, and nointhinc struck me
back of the ear (indicsting).

Q You were struck from boﬁind, you say? A Yes, and I
turned, and this man (indicating the defendant) struck me
in the face with some sort of instrument that he had in
his hind; and I took it away from him and struck him with
it, and he ran out of the swinging door of the toilet, and
I ran after him, and I hit him again ae he was going down
some steps, and he fell to his knees. '

Q 1Ie that the article that the defendant struck you with)

(indicating)? A Yes. I took it away from him and hit him
with 1t. : :
MR. DONOHUE: 1 offer 1‘ in évidenoce.
URL HOWE: No objection.
THE COURT: It is admitted. ‘
(It is marked People's Exhibit 1)




Q Now, in what part of your body were you hit; did you ‘

say? A xn the back ot tbo ear (umuuu) no first time
1 was struok.

Q And where else were you struck? A Right here, over
the bridge of the nose (indicating), aznd around the eye
(1ndiocating) . | | '

Q Ih'n was thlt at what hourt A Between 8 and 8:20.

' Q And were you attended by a dootor? A Yes, sir.

Q V¥hen? A About 1l o'clock, and I received two stitches
in the back of the ear and over the noo.; v

.Q Is this the man that struck you, are you positive thti.
ie the man who struck you (indicating the dofqndant)? A
Yes,sir. ;

d Had you ever seen him before? A No,sir. bl

Q Aqd you are pﬁalttvc that he is the man who struck you
over the head? A Yes,eir. )

Q. Now, how much money did you have in your pocket at the
time? A I had three thousand dollars in my vest pocket, on
the left-hand side, here (indicating) and I had about two
hundred and fifty dollars in my right trousers pocket, and
I bad this ring on, this dismond ring (indicating), and &
fob with diamonds set in it. ' :

Q You were visiting here in New York, you say? A Yes.

I hed been here for the World's Ball Series, with my wife.

@ Bt you have no doubt at all that this was the man who
struck yout A No,sir. ‘

N LY,
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MR, m:m You may éxastine.

mmlﬂlﬂOI BY MR. HOWE:
Q MNr. hlum, what is yout business? A Brokou‘u

 business. : ’

Q_ You L_rc.nét. & resident of New '!or_k City; are m?

‘No,sir.

Q Where do you ro_o'idn A In Cincinnati, ‘Ohio. I was
born and ruﬁd there. '
Q And you were on & visit here? A .Yoi, I came for tﬁo
World's Series, with my wife.
Q m:t:ou got through with the ball mo that aﬂor-
noon? A It was the lnt cm of the Series, and we left
~ the uu game as soon as tho game wae over I should say
: blt-nu 4:30 and 5 o'clock. MNr. na.ntgtn and I were topthn..j :
e Q Whnere did you go, after you left the ball game? A Mr.
b ' Flanigan and I went down to the Bristol Hotel, and his wife | }?j
and my wife. were witttng'fof us thﬁto, and we went to his o
roé-, to wash up.
Q I thought you arrived at the Bristol Hotel at seven

o'clock? A No, we had supper downstairs, in the hotel,
about eeven o'clock.
‘ Q Did you stop anywhere on your way downtown? A After we
left the game, Mr. Flanigan and I stopped at the house of
some friends of his, where he formerly uvod..

Q Now, when you say Mr. Flanigan went to the telephone
booth, you say that you went downstairs to the toilet? A

PRI R—. v
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Q m as you entered ‘Iho toilet, you stood within &
m dooﬂ A Yes, where the firet toilet was.
Q And how far is it from the steps to the swinging door?

A About twenty feet.

Q And, as you cnfoiod the toilet, there is & row of four
urinals, you ﬁ!'- A Yes, four urinals and four toilets. .
: € Are the urinals on the right, or left hand eide, as you
entert A The urinals are here and the toilets here (illus-

trating) . :
Q Then the urinals are on the left hand side as you go in? 4

A Vo, the right ma side.
Q And you stepped into the first one of those urinale?

A Yes.

Q But were you urinating at the time you received this

blow on the back of the head? A vYes.

Q Now, this blow struck you just where? A I’ou can see
the soar right here, over the ear (1ndioattng)-

Q Did that blow knock you to the ground? A No, sir.

Q What effect did it have on you? A It had u»v'ory pe-

culiar effect . When I was etruck, I was suprised, and then

I turned to see what had happened.
Q I digd't ask you 1:1xn.tT .

THE COURT: Yes, you did ask him what effeot it had.

Now let him finish hie answer. Finish your answer.

A (answer continued) I turned, and as I turned, this man




then m $his wrench from him.
‘ﬂ;“ mt
S When you turned around, dtdmmuymolu O
'MI the defendant, in the toilet with you? A Noeir.
ll.- HOWE: ; : . i -
- Q Did the firset blow daze yout A Yes, somewhat.

Q But how long after the first blow, did you receive
 the second blow? A Just in the fraction of a second:
As quick as I turned, this man leaped towards me and
struck me 'I“ln with the wrench, and I pulled the wremch

: away from him (11lustrating).

4“’ e : Q And you say that you grappled with the man that
o ke struck you, when the second blow was struck?! A vyes. I
A s ¥ _seised tho_ wrenoch. When I turned, I wae in this position
) (nl.utrhtic) ' and he struck me in here (indicating), and
1 pulled the wrench from his hand, and he ran out of the
;_ e door, and I ran right after him, and I hit him .,*nnu ¥
; blow with the wrench. And I was all blood myself, and I

ran him out into the hall. b
Q Did you knock him do-n with the blow? A lo,otr; £
did uot.
Q Where was the defendant whén you struck bim that
| first blow? A Right at the door of the toilet, of the
first toilet, which wes about four feet from the first
urinal, in which I was. |




% M m. the hsuny, and I ran after him, and. he turned
to 8o m & pair of steps -~ there is a shoe mnn
m ‘M & hall huta. into the toilet, a unu hall,

A TNo,sir; 1 didn't.

~ swinging doorse, did you ®ee & man there? A No, I didn't

im-ucumrn Re san ows Sveugh ANS seliging |

and, a8 ho nnt down those steps, I hit him mﬁg, and he

‘wens down $0 his kuees. %

'Q How many times then, did you strike him? A I struok |
un" once or twice. I can't just recall, becsuse, in my e
condition at that time, I was pretty much dased nnou.

Q !ou were protty much dazed yourselft A Yes.
Q FNow, at the time of the arrest of the defendant,
didn't ybu state that there was another man that ran out?

¢ You didn't state that to anybody? A No,sir; I didn'ts. -
Q When you went out into the corridor, outside of the

see & man there. There were two men coming down the steps,
when I had him in that position. As I hit him, he went
down t'o" his knees, and I heard a noise, and, as I looked |

up, 1 saw two men coming down. . And I calleda to Mr.Flanigan, b
thinking they were coming to help me. My firet impression
was that they were coming down for something else, thinking
thdy were residents of the hotel, and I called for Mr.
Flanigan, and he came down first, the firet one.

Q Did you keep on striking the defendant repeatedly,
after you Om lﬂl out of the urinalt A I think I




: day? A No,sir, I didn't. I wae unable to get out of the

Now try to think? A Well, I testified before the Orand

&m‘uu twice, and the last time was on the oup.,

*i“~tn‘ he fell on his knees. : -

Q And he was nnn away in an nbulmn wasn't he? .

sl Yes.

Q Did you go to the Msgistrate's Court, the following

izqtoi myself, the following day. : : ‘
Q When d1d you go to the Magistrate's Court? A Four
ér five days later. I went over to the etation with
of ficer -l'ounson. "
. Q Did you make iuy complaint in the Iqt.tistn ‘s Court
ageinet the defendant? A T did, yes. y
Q At the time you made that complaint, the dotonduﬂtvi. :
still in the hospital? A Yes,sir; so I understood. :
Q Did you make & complaint in the Magistrate's Court?

Jury, if that is what you mean. ,
'@ 8o that, as I understund it, while the defendant was
in the hoepital, you went direct to the Grand Jury? A WNo.

But four or five days after, Mr. rorguion took me over to

the station, and Questioned me ae to my name sad ‘addrees,

and took me to some gentleman back of & desk, and he

questioned me, t00 . _ :
Q‘- And“ihtuq is the firet day you have seen tha\ defendant ; g-

since the day of this trouble? A 'Yes,sir. ’
Q Isn't that true? ‘A Yes.




'Q Is that correct? A Yes.
Q Mr, Johnson, have you and Mr. Flanigan hed any
© arioks, that day? A Wone st sil, oir. ‘
Q You de drink mulounn don't yo‘t A Ilike a
glass of beer, if I can get it.
Q You could get plenty of it in New York Oliy, couldn't
you?! A I osme here for the ball Series, mot to drimk.
: Q Well, on your wey from the game tO the hotel, didn't
: S you and Mr. Flanigan have any refreshments?! A We aian't

o i

E- 5L have any; mo,sir.
- Q You were 1ntorviowgd by reportere in this ocase;
weren't you? A Yes, several of them interviewed me.
: Q And you, at that time, gave an account of the ocour~
g ‘rence in the hotel to the roportou st that time? A
- Just what had happened, yes.
o Didn't you state to the reporters, at the time of
_' S 3 yo&r interview, that thu.dofoudnt and another man, who
s ran away, had asssulted you in the toilet? A No,sir.
There was. only one man asssulted me. I sald there were :
B : two men aonns down the steps, when I called for Mr. rmun. _»‘ -

)

- Q Now, Mr. Johnson, is it not a faot that, when you

e

received that first blow, your' recolleotion of events,

i

after the blow wasn't very olear?! A I had a sort of numb

-

feeling when I was struck the first time, and then, in &
fraction of a segond I got the second blo';'and I can re-

wesber everything after that, that is, running hm out of i
mpu,mmuuj bim. When he struck me, my only o

B R
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: lltﬂltﬂ wae ld ‘stop him. :
Q m you say you turned around to pursue tm a--
'rrtmns, you hed pushed this ewinging door uau

'mm him; did yout A Yes.

Q And didn't thoee doot-/olou .rur thu man that you
were purmu had passed through them? A I don't under-
stand. When we were grappling togﬂhor, we were very
olose, in fact, almost tbuohins the ewinging doors, and 1

I hit bim ss he went out .of

went out almost as he did.
the door, and he wasn't more than three or four feet ahead
of me, and I hit him in thie hallway that leads down the

steps.
Q You say you have a recollection of two men on that

stairway? VA' Yes, about the eighth or tenth steps above us.

"f“ "l'hoy were coming down. ‘

: Q  How do you knos that? A Bacause I saw them.

o : Q@ JI»thought you were engaged in grappling with the

e defendant? ; I wasn't engaged in grappling with him Juet

5 then. I had knocked him down, snd had him down, and I hau,_

i s noise, and I turned, and saw these wen ooming down the .

k. ! stairs. 3

3 Q@ How much do you weighj Mr. Johmson? A About one W

and ntnosy-ﬁ'n pounds . ;
Q And you are & man of vigorous health; are you not? A

Ca

- Yes, I never hsvo any t:onblo wtth my condition.




MR, mp That 1s'all.

?.. !ll COURT: Gentlemen, we will now take &
j nau until 2:18 o'olook.
~(The Court then admonished the my, in ao-
~ ©ordance with Seotion 415 of the Code of Orimimal
m-, and took a recess until 3:15 P.M.




ATTER RECESS _ %
llllln H. FLANIGAN, of the Hotel lraosox &

_ ﬁw uuu on behalf of th. People, bon‘ duly mil,
0 unmu as follows:

ntm !mm'nol BY MR. DONOHUE:

Q Mr. Flanigan, were you with Mr. Johneon at the lbtol
Bristol on October 13th,18317 A Yes.

‘Q And d4id you leave him while he went into the toilet?
A Yos, oir. '

Q VWhen did you next see him a.fur that? A mn he was
: dmnuxo in the toilet.

Q And -nq did you see then? A I saw Mr. Johneon
standing, with a wrench in hie hand, and Mr. MoDowell was
down on his knees, kneeling against the blacking stand.

Q Is this the instrument that you deecribed as a wrenoh!

.~ (indicating People's Exhibit 1)t A Yes.

, . Q You saw that in Mr. Johmson's band; did yout A Yes.
\r ' Q@ And is this the man that you ocall u:._mononu (inat=-
” o cating the defendant)? A Yes. ' :
A Q And you ssw Mr. Johnson standing over him?! A Yes.
:. Q Ana what was Mr. Jobnson's condition st the time! A
E : He was bleeding very badly from s wound back of the ear.

e (indiosting), and also from & wound on the top of his nose.
§ Q And the defendant was aleo bleeding; was he? A ':u,-& A
| " MR. DONOHUE: You may woroAmmexamine .
CROB§-EXAMINATION BY MR. HOWE:




- Q  Whe Ju thn, -wa time was it, Mr. nnuuv
A dh-nu c&ltt o'clock, or shortly after.

. Q And you saw no one in the toilet at the time, us
i* two men? A lo sir, they were not in the totm
then. They were stadning on the platform, at the Lase
. - of the stairway.

Q There are folding doén also there? A Bnmn'nm‘
toilet and the Reception Room, yes. :

Q Now, is it not a fact that the defendant was lying
unconeoious on the floor of the toilet? A FHe was lesning
_mnn the Wacking etand. ) , :

Q And aid he appear to be unconscious whon you saw htl'l v
A Yes.

Q And @14 you notice the condition of his head? A Well,

he was bleeding ratber freely.
From what part of his head? A All over.
All over his head? A Yes,eir.

Did you see outs on his forehead? A Yes.
And on the top of his head? A Yes.

“And on the back of the head? A Yes.
llov many cuts did you see?! A It's hard to tell.

About how meany? A One or two.

O L L P L L O O

Is that all? A Yes.
' Q Will you indicate with your finger where you saw the
two outs that you refer to? A No,sir; I couldn's.

Q And how long did the defendant remain in that condition,




~ Perhaps ten or fifteem

it re Mmtm. did per A Evidently, yn,m 4
Q lﬁﬂ &uu carried out of the pmpr A Yes,eir. 3

Q Did he have a beard at that time? A No,sir.

'Q 'Smmoth-shaven! A Yes.

Q Thie instrument that you refer to, where was it when ‘ !
you firet saw i1t? A In Mr. Johneon's hapd. fes

Q This plece of iron, People's Exhibit 17 A Yes,eir.

- Q Did you see anybody on the steirway? A No,sir.

Q Did you see two men going down the stairway? A No,eir;
T dtEets. ' ;
‘ Q 4And you saw no one, except Ir; Johnson and the defendant,
- down in the toilet? A Yes, on the platform.
A Q How long -oro you tolophoning, while Johneon had gone to
the toilet? A Perhaps about two minutes. :
7 . Q About two minutes? A Yes.
- Q And, after you got ihroush telephoning, did you go
directly over ‘to where he was? A I didn't get shrough ﬂ.o-

- e
-y

T e

phoning. I suw people running towards the door, and 1 ran
~ over tnoio. Lo R
-Q 'Sap people running to what door? A The door leading
_ to the stairway, leading to the toilet.
Q ina you see anyone cowing up the stairs? A No,sir.
ﬁ;; Q Did l.nnlbor of people piooodo you to the stairway? ; f
| A Yes,sir. ' ' |
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QDI you eee anyome coming up upsteire? A Fo,siw.
. Q You will not eay that no ome omme up; will you? A,
e : -
Q They may have come up, without your knowledge! A 5
No,edr. - S : B

N Nidry

y
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Q You have never geen the defendant before? A No,eir.

Q I mean you had mever seem bim before you eaw him in

the company of Mr. Johnson? A No,eir.
Q ‘And you had never had words with him? A No,eir; nn'u'._i{ i
Q Wers you present at the time Mr. Johneon made & state-
ment as to the occurrence down in the tollet? A Yes. L
THE COURT: " When he made his statement to whom?
MR.. HOWE: To the reporters or police officers,
or Wy that was there.
THE WITNESS: ld p8ir.

s

. PR
RN

Q ¥Now, since this occurremce, this is the firet time you
) have seen the defendant? A Yes,sir. | g
*f" Q The do-rovnd&nt, however, wes brought up,'thi- ﬁmq,
o for you to' look at; wae he not? A No,sir.
B . Q Weren't you in court when he was brought upt A Yes.
~ Q Before court comvened? A No,eir. : ‘
3 ' Q Vas the defendant pointed out to you? A No,eir.'

VQ Has his appearance changed in any respeot, since the
time of this cocurrence? A You mean since the acocident 4
happened?

Q‘ Yes? A Yes.




“Q hihtrmﬂ A !lohnsruu-ambmd
‘whiekers cn, now. A
Q Yet, even with a beard on, it has made no npm

olln- to you as to his -ppou'moot A No, -1:.
'Q You saw him for a period of how long, in the toilet?
A TFor tbent tmty umtu.
Q But you haven't seen hh\ niuoo Ootobor 13tht- A lo,ua.,
Q Did you notice whether he had glasses on, at the time?
A He did mot. 2
Q btd you see his glasses lying on the floor?! A No,sir;
I aidn't. ‘ '
Q What sort of & xm did he have on, if you know?! A lo
: had a soft hat on.
i : Q Vhat color were his clothes? A He had a light suit om.
- Q He had a 18ght suit on?t A Yes.
Q How long was it after this trouble, that the oftutn.
arrived, if you know, about how long? A About Shres of
' four minutes. bl % g : ;
; Q And, during tyat time, who had posvession of this
B instrument .that is in evidenoce here? A Mr. Johnson .
. ~ Q He held it in hie hand? A Yes,eir.
| Q Were inguiries made by Mr. Johnsom, at the time that
7 thie dotondsnt was lying on the floor, &s to the serious in-
Juﬂ.ﬁ that had been inflioted upon the defendant? A Wo,eir.
E | ; Q Didn't anybody ask or question him as to the blows that
had been struck the defendant? A The police officer did, Mw




' Q No ome else? A No,elir.
Q Vasn't Mr. Johnson trying to explain to those parisii;
bb!ur- tho police ottioor- arrived, how this man came by htn

:u- injuries? A There was nobody present but myself.
Q 'oll do I understand that, after you saw ;11 thnlo
pooplo runntng over to the stairway, that prooodod you, that

nonO'of thcl went downstaire except youj A Only Mr. Reid,
the Assietant Manager of the hotel.
' MR. HOWE: That's sll.
BY THE COURT:
Q 1Ia there any doubt whatever, in your mind, that this
is the man that you have been talking about? A None, Qnaé-

ever, sir; absolutely none, eir.

GEORGE A. FFRGUSON, of the 26th Precinct, Detective

Divinton, & witneee oalled on behalf of the People, being quxy';‘
eworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DONOHUE: 1

Q Officer, was your attention direoted to the Hotel Brintol,f;

on the evening of October 13th of this year? Just answer |

-ﬁkl - : yeés or no, dt!topr? A Yes.
i N - .

Q And did you go to the Hotel Bristol? A I dia.
Q When did you get there? A About 8:20. And I was

directed downstaire to the lavatory, and I went down there,
und 1 saw the complaining witnees, Mr. Arthur Johnson, #it-

“ting inside of the lavatory. He was covered with blood,
and he had a y;aﬁgorohtot pa:tly to his face (111n-trut1ng).




; 'li?!ii-outiiﬂo of the lavatory, in & ktnh.or h&llwsy'

= -hbti‘thanu was a.plutrorn. The defendant sat there on a
obair. ' ‘ : N .
 Q When you say the defendant,
A This qln MoDowell (indiceting the defendant). He sat

whom do you mean, officer?

there with his head bent over, tynt way (illustrating); and : .-i
the ambulance surgeon sald that he would attend to Mr.
Johnson firet. He said he didn't want to be sewed up, be-
A_io.ulﬁ he said he would get a physician to do that after- |

wardt snd 80, he attended to him temporarily.

Q And what did the defendant say or dof A Ho asked me
for a glass of water, and drank half of it, and I wvanted to
take it away from bhim, and he grabbed it, and drank.tho '
other half of it. '

Q Did you question him? A I asked him some guestions,

but he didn't reply. '

Q Did ycu.ovor -oo‘thic instrument before, officer,

(indicnting People's Exhibit 1)7 A ‘Yes. Mr. Johneon ga:e

that to me at the time I got there.

CROSS-EXAMTNATION BY MR. HOVE:

Q Now, when Mr. Johnson gave you this instrunont;-and the
defendant was taken to the hospital, what did you do with 1t?
A 1 brought it to the station house. ' _

Q Did you have it examined to see -hothor there were any
llq..tartntl on. it of any kind? A Ho,sir; I dian't.

Q You handled it .ttox Ir Johnson guso it to youl lﬁppOlO?

"t



Q And you never had it oxnnlnod'by'nay of the experts
 of your DI)nrt-nt to determine whothor anyone else had
handled it, exocept Mr. Johneon and the defendant? A lo,ltr. !
'Q The defendant was in the hospital how long? A lhy,

I think sbout eight or nine deys, before I bron;ht him
' .

down here.

i e S TR

Q EHow many abrasions did you notice on his head? A i.li,
to tell you the truth, that night, I dldn't look at his head
at all. | P
Q Vas he covered with Slpodr A Oh, yes, he was bloodln‘ A
pretty bad. : '
- Q Hie head wae all covered with blood; wae 1% mot? A
?: 4 ioli, he had his heead over tﬁnt way (1llustrating), and the
i;u % blood was running Fhon his head snd nose . )
k. "~ Q And didn't you notice that most of the blows, Officer '
i Ferguson, were on the back of his head? A No,sir. I dida't
e " give him an examination. The ambulance surgeon had dooidod

then, from the search we had mede of his clothing, etc., that

he would take him to the holpitul.

Q And he was in ouoh & physical condition, you say, thut
he couldn't respond to your questione? A No,sir; he wouldn'i
give me any information as to himself. But he asked me for a
4‘. of water, and I gave it to him, and he drank the water,
nna I searched him and found upon higm -- _ :

*Q No, never mind about that. This case did mot come be-

fore & Magistrate; did 1t? A No,eir.



g O R | YA lh_ﬂ\:-ﬂ‘mﬂqf“y_“}“ -

1 'R 1% was prosestes dizect %o the Orsnd Jusy?
i g pleT Sl mm The Pecple rest. :
MR, m: 1 make the usual motion to euuuq.
the indictment, and discharge the defendant, on the
ground that the People have failed to make out & oase.
THE COURT: | Iott;aixod denied.
MR. HOWE: [Exception.




THE DEFENSE.
LOUIS IoDO'lLL. of 262 West 46th Strcot.
defendant, bolnc duly sworn, ee-tifiod a8 follows:
DIR!OT lXAIIlATIOI BY MR. HOIE'

"Q Now, Mr. IcDouoll if you will try to answer ‘the
qulnttonl put to you in such & tone of voioc that all the
Jurore can hear you, I would 1ike it. A _Very well, sir.

Q W¥Where were you living at the time of your arrest, ﬂr.
MoDowell? A 262 Vest 48th Street. |

Q What sort of a place is that? A It's & rooming house:

Q AA fﬁrni.hod room house? A Yes.

'Q And how long had you lived there? A I had been living

there for several wedéks.
Q , A couple of weeks? A Several weecks. L
Q Several weeks! A Yes.
Q How long had you lived in New York Oityt‘ A BinooA-- 
well, I came back here in 1906 . :
 THE COUET: You must keep your voice up. It is
very important to you tb have tpo jury hear what you say,
and they complain that they cannot hear you. :
: THE WITNESS: In 1806.

THE COURT: Now speak out loud, so that the jurors
may hear you. You are anxious, I suppose, that they should
hesr you.

THE WITNESS: All right, sir.-

BY MR. HOWE: |

A S



R 2 . o
R And how old are m; Mr. MoDowell! A Forty-eight .
- Q- Fbrty-otghtt A Yee. '

Q lr loDo-oll you have boon oonvlctod of orime ho:o-

o i raad il
ey

toforo. have yau nott A Yes, sir. e

) Q ,ﬂou, will you .tato to his Honor and the gentlemen of

3
4

‘7
1
4

' Sho‘Jury, the firet time you were convicted of a crime, and
what the offense was? A The firet time was in 1806, I
believe it wis -- T am not sure of the early date -~ I was
convicted three times, but I am not sure of the early date.

Q F¥hat was the charge in that case? A Swindling.

Q What? A Swindling.
' BY(MR. DONOHUE: _

Q Swindling? A Yes; or grand larceny, or whichever you
call it. ' :
BY MR. HOWE: : ;

Q And what was done with you? A I was sent away to_thn
Penitentiary.

Q Youlwero sent to the Penitentiary? A Yes,sir.

Q And that was in what year? A 1896, I think. I am
not sure of tbeAdate. - X : | '
"Q WNow, after you served your term for that offemse in the
Penitentiary, when were you convicted again? A In 1900.

d And what was the charge in that case? A Swindling, or
some such thing. They made it grand larceny.

Q@ And what was your sentence on that charge?! A In the i




| img Penitentiary. |
Q In the Ilnaouzt Ponttontturyr A Yee,sir.

Q Did you .orvo ycur sentence on thet oharge? A ‘Beg

'pu'dont :

Q (Question ropo#tod) A Yes.

Q And, upon your release, how long after that were you
. ngiln convioted? A I was Lrought back.here to New York,
‘and sent to Sing SBing from here.
Q What ycer was qhat? A- 1603.
Q ¥hat msentence did you receive? A Three years and throé.
monthe. ' _ L : :
Q And what was the charge in that caae?l A Grand-htroony.
Q Wﬁat was the next time, if any? A The only time I was
ovor arrested since then wae for the poesession of drngl,
whtoh the doctore gave me. |
~Q I understood you ho say that the last oonviotion was tor
‘the ponneullon of narootto druge? A I waen't oonvtotod.

' Q Vell, I asked you about convictions? A The last oon-_
viction was in 1803.

Q 18037 A Yes,sir.
I see. Now, you have used druge; have you? A Yes.
For how long a period of time? A« For twenty-eight yo&t-;’

Q
C

Q For twenty-eight yearst A Yes.

Q Are you using drugs now?! A No,eir.

Q When did you stop the use of drugs? In February of this
ear

y , ten monthe ago.

Q Ten months ago? A Yes.



s

~_ Q How did you come to stop the use of drugst A They
".rrintqdrno‘ror possession of druge, and I Jﬁ-t made up my

mind to stop, and otopﬁcd. I went to the holptts;; and took
the cure, and etopped. : ‘

Q Where did you go to take the cure? A The Philadelphia
General Hospital. '

'Q And d1d you then receive a discharge from the hospital?
A Yes. ; :

Q Now, you have been in prison since the 13th day‘éf

October, the date of your arrest on this charge? A Yes,sir. ;

Q And how long have you been in the Tombs Prison? A ALl 5

the time, except eight or nine days I was in Bellevue.

Q During the period of your confinement in the Tolbl,

4 ; have you received any drugs, or treatment, through the hnndi.f f
B | of the Tomb's physician? A None whatever, from aqybody.'A,'v
i ' Q Now, we will go bsok to the 13th of October, the date of |
thie alleged offense. Were you in the Hotel Bristol om ihn "*%E

early evening of that date? A Yes. ' :

Q VWhat ﬁime did you go in theré? A I den't know the 3

fQ; 5ol exact time. It vas after I had had my dinner.

;, . © Q Whj did you go in there? A 1 went down there to urinate.
\ Q You went down there to urinate? A Yes.

e Q How far is the Bristol Hotel from your home? A About

; two blocks and & half. : A v

»i}i, A : Q Where did you eat your dlnher, that evening? A In a :

restsurant, next door to the Bristol.




_bakery and lunch room. I don't know the name of it.

~@#tairs, and proceeded to go down into the toilet proper, I

get into the urinale. As I got down into the washroom, a

Q What 1s the name of that restaurent? A It is a

Q And, after you bad finiehed your repast there, you ?
say you went into the Hotel Bristol, to go into the toilet?
A Yes,sir. ‘ : '

Q How did you get into the toilet? A I went through ghi
l1obby, and down the stairway to the toilet. I didn't ge%
down as far ae the toilet. I only got down &s far as the
wash-room . ' A

Q VNow, from the time that you got to the head of the

want you, in your own way, to tell this jury all that oo-
curred, all that you did and all that happened, after you
reached downstsire and in the toilet. Now speak ouf loud,
s0 that the jury can hear you. A I want down the stairs,
and, after you get down to the bootom of the stairs, there :
is & little platform, and then there is an entrance to the . L;

washroom, and you have got to go through the wash-room to

man rushed out of the urinals, and gave me & blow on the jaw,
and knooked off my hat, and struck me on the head with some
inetrument, and I started io run, and hollered for hoip; and
then I got another blow on the head, and went down, unoon-
scious, and that is the last I knew until I found myeelf in
Bellevue, with fourteen separate and distinoct cuts on my hbod,wi
and they are all on the back of my head, but two (indicating).



Q ﬂu uwhtun has testified, of course, that ho ‘
~ struck you mot more than three times. Now, will you stand.
‘up please, and turn around? Now these scer§ that are on 4
the back of your head, are the scars from the o i
you mnvod -nu you were in the tolilet? A B

Q BNow, are ti\cro are there any on the top of your lcu?
A Yes. :

Q ‘Yn, I see four. How many in front?! A Three in
front there (indicating), and the others are on top; om
the back of my head.

Q Altogether, how many ecars are there? A Fourteen

sCuTrSs .

Q TFourteen soars? A Yes. _
Q Now, at the time you were ih the hotel, or went down
B g . 4into the toilet, Aid you have this inetrument whioh I ahu 5
. - 'you, and which is in evidenoe (indicating People's 'nhhtl
_ii-’ 1) 4n your possession? A No, never. L
& . Q When did you first see this weapon?- A The first ts-o“
I saw it was when I wae cnr in the hotel. They asked me

- : what 11: was.
A Q Now, desoribe that oocurrence in the hotel? A They
';' k: called me over to the desk there, and asked me what that
j was, and 1 said, I didn't know, and they said, "That's the
wrenoh that you were hit with®, .
Q ¥ho asked you those questions?! A m purse in the
;a_ptt_n. It wae on the desk, and the nuree was the one




m ‘called oy sttention to it. I don't knov who m 'iu‘— &
at. the no- |
Q Hnl 1ou passed throuch the swinging doors locdilc }!‘;
the toilet before you were struck? A No,sir; I was struck
.!ttlt in the v.ohroo- and 1 ran to the platform. The 3
first blow knocked off my hat, nnd I stooped to pt?k up

- my hat, tnd I was hit again. g i .

Q Did you sec the man who struck you, botoro he nruoi i

'>you1 A No,sir; I don't even know where he came from.

Q@ Did you see anybody leaving the toilet. A Yes. The
msn who ran out firet hit me on the jew. He bit me in th.v‘
43.u, and ren upstairs. He dianft hit me with that (1ndlo:t1'
the exhibit). :

Q I mean the man that struck you. Did you see in 'ﬁtoh

— direction he wont? A Hc ran upnt;lrs.
7,.Q And wag it then that you were struok? A Yol llll- 1
diately after. He hadn't got more than three feet away tro;'
- me before anothor man struck me on the back of the hoad with

this 1notruuont (1ndicat1ng the exhibit).

~BY THE COURT:
B 9 Two men struck you?t A Yes.

Q One wtth ht- fist and the other with this lnltru-oatt
A Yes,sir.
BY MR. HOWE:

Q Now, Nr. ﬁoDd-oll, in all the orimes that you say you
have been convicted 5f, did sny of them involve an aot of

-

&




o CI ,II! pilt' A lo,-tr. ,
Q In yuur ortulutl onsoo: have you cvcr been arrested
~for u-nt of any kind? A No, never been acoused of any

: iﬂ ot uohuo in my life, never in my life.
‘" ‘ Q And st the time you went into the toilet, you were in :

tgll possession of your faculties? A As near as I ocan be.
Q- You were noé under the influence of any drug? A BNo,
- none whstovor.
Q And 1ou ouy that you had given that up about ton monthe
prtor?_ A Yes, about ton monthe &go, and I had been cured
of it.
Q You have been in the Hotel Bitntol before; havo‘you not?t
A Yes, I wsed to live there.
B Q lhqt was that? A Some time ago-.
v v o How many years sgo? A About three or four years &ago . i
. Q How long dtd you 1;10 there? A 'lhy, porhspofttv; or
- six months. I have lived at hotels in that neighborhood for
R a great -say years.
' Q But, at the time of thie occurrence, you were living in

2 a furnished room? A Yes.
o~ ‘Q HNow, have you told all that you can recollect of this
ocourrence? A Yes. A ' _
Q lhen_-ai the first time that you saw this ocomplaining -
‘ witﬁoc., to your knowledge? A This morning, when he came
into court here, and they called me up, ond asked me if I _
- knew him, and & eald no. v
'Q W¥hen did they call you up, and ask you that qnolttclt




"t“,!i!btoi!'wll brought up for trisl: ,
9 You -;-ftpn complaining witness brought up? A HNo, he.
wae stending over Lere (indicating), and he walked down the
‘isle, over here (indicating), and they ssked me if I knew him,
“and I said no. Gt T
‘~Q And that is the firet time you say, you ever saw him?
A Yes.
: Q2 You realize the sericusness of this charge; do you not?
A Yes. :
Q And.tb negeesity of telling the truth? -A Yes. '
Q And you realize that your liberty is at stake? A YQ-.,‘
Q And you realize the hnndioap of your oriminal cnroor?
A Yes, absolutely; more than anybody else. :
Q. And are you telling the truth? A Yes.
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DONOHUE: ' _
Q Well, have you told us all the-convictione that were h‘d
ugainlt you? A T believe I have.

Q Well, don't you remember? A Well, in my earlier daye,

‘1 was arrested several times, but I have told the odnvt&ttonl;.
1 think. » : ; i
Q In 1896 yéu were convicted of grand larceny? A Yes, in
2 : Rochester, New York.
e V Q@ And in 1801 you were convicted of grand larceny, and sent
- to the Jefferson City Prison for threa yoar.? A Yes.
Q And you escoped from that prioon:‘ A No,sir; 1. .toapod

from the train.




r mzutnm« A Yea. e
'y m nﬂo:u:do convicted in Vashington, as
; tro- Justicet A WNo, I was pioked up there, A
~&nd taken back to Jo'nnon Civy. _

f.< Q And you were also convicted of ‘rand larceny, in

A ﬁun-hrro Pennsylvaniat A I was not.
Q And werem't you sent to the Monroe County Jl‘l for olm
At Rochester.

monthe, as & swindler? A Ro.
Q I am talking of Wilkes-Barre, Pennsylvanie? A I w‘i.. ;

I never ~oo-1£tog- any orime in
1 was taken back to Rochester.

taken baox from there.
uuxu-sa.i:u.
Q Now, by the uy, what names did you use in eonn«tun

with theoe convictions? & Bcro in New York, J. Pierepont
Morgan, Junior .

Q And you were u swindler; weren't you? A Yees ,0ir.

Q ‘And what other names did you use? A Oh, the names of

prominent men in thow towns I was in. . :
o Q Yes, you alii.y- picked out the name of the most M
man in the oity in which you worked your game? A Yes.

Q@ HNow, what have you been doing for a living during the
luitrnt; months? A I haven,t done anything. 1 hnn' been
looking for a job right along.

Q Now, up to this time, Mr. MoDowell, you had not 'ctgid

for monthe; had you? A 1 hadn't worked since I came from

the hospital, in February. »
Q How éid you get along them? A I hed money from my




Q Anﬂ ynu were u-tunlly in need cr nonny on Ootobor
13th; were you not? A No more than I was for ten monthe

vefore . : hr RN S £ e |

Q You didn't have nny money when you were urrootcd did :
youi A Yes, 1 had two dollare and uomothing.

Q ‘Now, ‘between what aveuuo-'dtd you live? ‘A Bit;oan
Bovonth and Eighth Avenues . ’

Q@ And dduyou say you went around from your house to thtu
hottl, for the purpose of urinating? A No,eir. T had been o
to the restaurant, next door to the Bristol, to eat my dthnox;:ﬁ
and then [ went intc the hotel to urinate. : : f

Q Yéu néior saw Ir;AJohnion, you_uaf, before this -6rnin‘t b
A No,eir. : - |

Q And you novor had any quarrel with btnt A No,sir.

Q There was no ved feeling whatever between you'.nd him?

A No,sir. — 4
; Q And there ie no realon,:lo far ae you know, yhy he ghould E

come here and tell the etory he didt A No,sir.

Q Dol undér-tnnd you to say that an unknown man punched
\J ' you? A Yes, a men that came out of the tolilet. '
) Q Did you chase hig?! A No.

Q Yoﬁ didn't make any attempt to get him? A No,eir.

Q Did you call out for holp? A Yes, after I was hit
with that (indicating the exhibit).

G With what? A With that iron tning.

SR SRy



J.-ﬁﬁiuti &t was what I was htt wtth.
Q‘ Did you ever sce it botoro you saw 1t.in thc hoopitult ‘u 
A Yo,eir; I dida't. : |
Q- You didn't have 15; did you! A Never.
f_Q Do you remember talking to the police officer that day?
A When? | A
Q At the ﬁotcl? A ﬁo.
Q You have no recollection whatever, of that? A lo;ui:.
The last I remember i.lwhen I got the second biOv.

MR. DONOHUE: That is all.

MR. HOWE: That is the defendant's case.

MR. DONOHUE: -If you Homor pleesse, I don't think
the Jurors will care £oF any susning up oh ehSher: Side
the feots are so cleer and eimple, it seems to me. Will
iou submit on the Court's charge?

‘MR. HOWE: ' Yes, certainly.




: First Dogxoo, and Assault in the Second Degree, there be-

.in this, or any othor case, thnn ﬁh;t.

RN A s
THE COURT*S CHARGE.

Gentlemen of the Jury:
The defendant, Louis IoDowoll was 1ndtotod by
a Grand Jury of ‘the county, charged with Assault in the <

- ing two counts in the indictment, one charging each of
- those degrees of Assault.

L'oysrgo you, gentlemen, that you are not to
infer or assume from the -oio fact that an 1ndict-.§t was
found' against him, that he is guilty of the crime charged
in the indictment, bocaﬁoo the indictment is nothing move
than an accusation in writing, which is filed with the Court,
and has for its main purpose, the idea of bringing & dlf.l‘-
ant into Court, and of appriging him of the details ot the
crime with which he is charged. It has no other importance

You, gontlo-on are the exclusive judges ot the
facts in this case, and you are just as supreme in that

domain as the Court is supreme in the domain of the law. You

are as much judges as the Gourt is, only you have to do witg'

. the facts, and the Court has to do with the law. ' ;

In'the performance of his duty as a Judge of the i
law, the Court denied the motion of the defense to take the

case from the jury and advise the jury to acquit, and you

are not to infer from that ruling on & matter of law that the
Court entertains any opinion whatever, as to the ‘uglt or

R TR RRIR—————



" innocence of the defendant.

Every defendant in a oriminal case is entitled
to certain safeguards of the law. One of them is that
he is presumed to be innocent until his guilt is proven,
and another is that his guilt must be astablisghed to y&nr
.(tiiflntion, beyond a reasonable doubt. When we say that
& man is presumed to be innocent until his guilt is proven,
it means substantially this, that, under our form of law,
being oharged with orime, a defemdant is not required to

_prove his innocence, but the People must prove his guilt by

'co-potent evidence, d&nd the People are required to prove his
guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

A/roulontblo doubt means about what the words
indicate. A reasonable doubt is a doubt that arises in
reason, a doubt that you can give a reason for, if one ie
required. It ie the kind of doubt that you, as intelligent
men, afc likely to hﬁvo, every day, about some important .
matter in your business or domestic life; and the law 1.,'
gontlo-on,b that, 1f you hawe @ reasonable doubt as to the 7
guilt of the defendant of the orime with which he is charged,
‘you must acquit him; and, on the comtrary, if 6 after
seriously considering the entire evidence in this case,
you have no reasonable doubt that he did assault the com=
plaining witness with this weapon -- in other words, if you
have no doubt in your own mind that he is the man who, for

one reason or another, did use this weapon, this piece of

,M
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iron, ae it appears to be, upon the head of the complaining
witness, if you are satisfied beyopd s reasomable doubt that
he committed this sssault, then, gentlemen, it 1s your
bounden duty as citizens and sworn jurors, in this case, to
éonyiot the defendant. ;
| The defemaant has taken the stand in his own
defense. He was not required to do it. Under our law, he

‘could have remained silent, and the Court would have been

rpquir’d to charge you, at the request of hie oounooi, that
you must indulge in no presumption againet him because he
d1d not see fit to take the stand. But he has taken the
stand, and, having become a witness in his own b.h‘lf,rhll

testimony must be regarded in the same way as you would re-

gard the testimony of any other wimess, and you must apply

to it the same tests that you apply to the testimony of any
witness.

So that there is a simple question of fact for

- you to decide. The complainant, Mr. Johnson, says that,

on the 13th of October, 1931, he was gfievounly assaulted
by the defendant, and that he recognized him at the time of
the assault, and that he turned, and eaw him with this o
instrument in his hands, and that he got the instrument
away from the defendant, and, in turn, assaulted the

defendant. A witness for the People, Mr. Flanigan, says

that he came downstairs into the lavatory, and saw at the
entrance of the lavatory, Jobmson, with his head bleeding

i
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from Ml injuries, and saw this instrument in his hand, | . - B
~ and saw this defendant without his hat, as Mr. Johnson
- testified he was, after he had struck him with thie in- L
strument . : B
Assault in the First Degree, which is charged ae

one of the two counts in this indictment, is committed by
‘& person who, with intent to kill a human being, or to
commit & felony upon the person or property of the one
assaulted, sssaults another with & loaded firearm, or, any
‘other deadly weapon, or by any other means or force likely
to produce doath. Such a person is guilty of inmlt in
the ﬂ.nt degree, if guilty at all. :

Now I will repeat that, so that it uy be oclearly

understood by you. Assault in the first degree is oo.tttoql» 3
by a person who assaults another, with 1ntoqt to kill, or

e ' ; with an intent to commit a felony upon _tho. person or

2 property of the one assaulted. You n'otp the two elements

M - of assault in the first degree, the element of'-nn intention

: to kill, or the element of an intention to commit a felony,

‘and 1 charge you that, if you find from the evidence that
- this sssault was, committed with an intent on the part of
: the defendant, assuming that it was committed by him at all,
. to rob or take from the person of the complaining witnees
: money or other property, that that would be a to].onyr. ‘,
So that the two elements that you must find, in ' |
order to determine the degree of orime committed by the : B L5




defendant, if you nﬁn that he committed any orime, are,
firet, whether the assault was committed with intent to ;
kill, or, ucou with the intent to commit a foleuy upon

the person or proporty of Mr. Johnson.
Now, Assault in the Second Degree, is thus
 defined: A person who, under circumstances not amounting

o o

to the crime of Assault in the Firet Degree, wilfully and

wrongfully uuuin another by the use of a weapon or

f{' 2 : other instrument or thing likely to produce grievous bodu.y
- g harm, is guilty of Assault in the Second Degree. 5
: In Assault in the Becond Degree, the two o‘.lmntu -l

that I.spoke of, a moment ago, and which apply only to ‘
Assault in the Firet Degree, are absent. Assault in the

Firet Degree imports either an intent to kill or an intent to
cmﬂ-ﬂ- felony upon the person or property of the one . '
tumltod whereas Assault in the Second Degree may be ocom-
mitted without an intent to kéll, it may be committed without
-an intent to commit a felony upon the person unn]ft“, and
it may be committed by one who wilfully and wrongfully

i.lwltn another by the use of a weapon or other inotmunt'

; & 3 or thing likely to produce grievous bodily harm.
el I leave it to you to say whether the instrument
" ) alleged to have been used in this case, and which has been

made an exhibit in the case, is a weapon likely to produce
grltovouo bodily harm or not. So that your p;ovinco, gentlemen,
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1s to do exact justice in this case to the defendant and
 to the People. And let me say this to you. The defendant
_hpu’ldlittod that he has been previously convicted of

that in the scale in which you weigh hie testimony, and you

orime. I charge you -- and you must regard this inetruction

_-aorodlyv-- I charge you that you are not to convict this .

defendant of the orime for which he is now on trial, because
he has been pr;vtouoly convicted of orime. You may consider
his previous oriminal record as bearing upon onovfact only,
and that ie, his orodibility as a witness in this case.

You may consider whether or not a man with a previous
oriminal record, a record of one, two or even more oonvibttonq ]

is likely to tell the truth upon the stand.. You may put

may consider whether he is entitled to as much credit with
regard to the truth of his story as is a man who has hither~-
to led a blameless life, without having run afoul of the-law.
That is the only purpose for which you may consider his ;
prcvioui'orilinal career. Bear that in mind, gentlemen, lest

injustice be done.
Your verdict, gentlemen, in this case, must, of

course, be in accord with the evidence. It must not be
influenced by prejudice for or against the defendant ,. oxr any
other person in thii case. It must not be influenced by
sympathy for him or prejudice against him. Prejudice and
sympathy are human emotions, but they have no place in a
court room or in a jury room, and they must be entirely
eliminated in any case in which you may eit as jurors. Your
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a1ot will be either guilty of Asssult in the Firet
m or ‘nnty of Auult in the Second nuru or,
 Net ﬁuty. :

~ Are there ‘ny roquuh, Mr, Howe?
l. mna Im, your Honor.
: m oounrs Any requests, Mr. District Attomy?
«n.nqlom: No,sir.
* THE COURT: Gentlemen, the case is in your hande. :
AT ~ (The jury retired to consider of thur verdict,
at 3:10 P.M.)
(The jury returned to the Court Room at
3:30 P.M., finding the defendant guilty of Assault in
~th§ First Degree) i »
. ,ao't: 1f your' nonoi' please, may I reserve all motions
u' this case until the day of sentence? |
THE oouu: Yes. The dofond’snt ie remanded for a week,

for sentence.
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~ LOUIS MoDOWELL :  Hon. Alfred J. Tellsy ¥y, -
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Indicted for Assault in the First Degree.
Indictment filed October 17th, 1921,

APPEARANCES : :
Assistant District Attorney James E. McDonald, for the Peopl
‘B, L. Mitnick, Esq., for the Defense.

- THE SENTENCE:

THE DEFENDANT: 1If your Honor will allow it, I
would 11k§ to have lr Mitnick appear for me instead of
Mr. Howe. :

THE COURT: Certainly; you may have any counsel
that you desire. '

MR, MITNICK: May I, at this time, if your Honor *ﬂ,';j

“u"

please, so that the rigit s of the defendant may be pru.ﬂ.di
may I make such motions, asI may be advised, on the redord?

THE COURT: Yes, certainly.

MR, MITNICK: I uk your Honor to set uido thq

vordlot of the jury on the ground that the verdict of thn

Jlry Am contrary to the evidence, and was ;ugun't the




of ovic;ohoo, and q'ontlru.ry to law, and on all the g?O\;ndl- |
' ~ eet forth and made and provided for in the COdo_qrACriinind‘“
; Prqa'ig\uro, and upon all exceptions that may appear .11'1 the .
_case. : |

I did not appear in the case, and therefore I am K;

;xot in a position, 911;, t0 make any comment upon the cvidomdéi
THE COURT: No, there is no need for comment :I.n“ the '“
motion that you have made, and the motion, as made, is
entirely sufficient to protect the rights of the de- .
fendant. :
. MR, MITNICK: And the motion is denied?
THE COURT: Yes.
MR. NITNICK:  And we except.

_ As to the sentence, if your Honor please, I_mlt
urge that 80 far as I have heard the evidence was, there is
no m,otiv§ whatever for the commission of this crime. ﬁo had
never seen the complainant befare, and he was an entire :
stranger, and .he had no motive whatever for attacking hi'n._.A 53
THE COURT: I disagree with you. I gather from the ovh-
dénco, that this defendant must have, in sOme manner, |
trailed the complainant around. It was curious that
ne pickedhout and assaulted a man who happened to have
three thousand dollars in his pocket at the time. This
defendant probably knew about that, and that is why he
picke& him out, but he picked out the wrong man. u

v!r

MR, MITNICK:  The defeml ant says-- if your Honor




will bear with me further-- the defendant says the com-
piaihmt was in 't'ha_toiht when he came down theri, and
: tix'at_sone one did assault the complainant, another man, and .
that he ran out after the assault, and the cbmpla:lnn.nt
grabbed him, the defemant, thinking he.was the man who
assaulted him, and would not give him time to explain that
the man who assaulted him ran out into the hotel.

THE COURT: No, this is the man that assaulted
him. Don't worry about thi; shadowy person. He was creat-’;’f
ed solely for the purpose of the defense in 'this‘ acti.dn. :
This is the man that committed the assault. Anything
more? R : '

MR, MITNICK: No, eir.

THE COURT: Louis McDowell, the faot that you
have been befor e‘ convicted many times, in many jurisdicti
of crime, 1s affected to a 'greaf extent in your favor by t]
consideration that you are not a young man, and that you ,
have been a drug addict during most of your life, if not
all of it, and will cut your sentence in half.

The sentence of the Court is that you be confined
in State Prison for the periocd of five years.

MR. MITNICK: May the execution of that sentence

be delayed for ten days?

THE ,COURT: No.

1

Frank S. Beard, ,
Official Stenographer.
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